              THE HISTORY OF SAND BANK SCHOOL
[image: image1.jpg]



by Dennis Patton
Education has been called a great American experiment, a test of various philosophies ideas, and institution. Small one-room schools were the place where most American education occurred from the colonial era to the middle of the twentieth century. In 
1918-19 the number of one-room schools reached the high-water mark of 196,037. More than ninety thousand were erected in the Midwest. Most of those old schools are rotting away on back country roads. A few, like Sand Bank School, few have been preserved. By visiting these restored schoolhouses one can feel the spirit of the early pioneers, who knew the only pathway to a better life for their children, and the way to preserve democracy in the fledgling United States, was through education. Gone is the world of the small rural schoolhouse. However, memories of those school days still linger with those old enough to remember them, and intrigue those who have heard tales about these first places of learning.
School Days have definitely changed. The differences between yesterday’s school houses and those of today may seem merely to be varying types of architecture and differences in size, but the real difference is simply in how we live today and how those before us lived theirs. Entering the restored Sand Bank School gives one a hint of the past. The school has not been used for almost sixty years; but within its walls is an unexplainable feeling that the pupils have just left for the day and will return tomorrow. The aura of yesterday lingers.

As the new United States expanded westward after the Revolutionary War pioneers immigrated into outlying western territories.  New villages and settlements sprang up. The early settlers knew the importance of education and soon after they erected their log cabins they began building log schoolhouses. Many children of farmers lived in rural areas, too far to attend the town school, and, in time, they erected their own rural schools. The metro-east counties of Monroe, Randolph, St. Clair, and Madison, were the first counties in the Northwest Territory to place importance on the education of young children. In 1783 the first English School in the Illinois Territory was taught by Samuel John Seeley, south of Waterloo in the New Design settlement.  Mr. Seeley taught basic educational skills in an abandoned squatter’s log hut with a dirt floor; small round logs used for seats, and hewn logs that were made into desks. Light was admitted by removing logs from the walls and covering the small windows with greased paper.  This first school was located on a one-half acre plot which was part of a tract of land known as the James Lemon Grant, or New Design. A historical stone now marks the place where the school stood, partially in a field on KK Road. between Burkesville and Burkesville Station. 
The Territorial Ordinance of 1787 that officially created the Illinois Territory read, “Religion, morality and knowledge, being necessary for god government and the happiness of mankind, schools and the means of education shall ever be encouraged.”  This Territorial Ordinance called for the development of free public schools, but they were slow coming. Another Territorial Act in 1789 granted legal rights to school districts and provided for the appointment of school committees. As 1800 came around there was still only one subscription school in Monroe County, in the New Design Settlement, taught by a Mr. Halfpenny. Mr. Halfpenny, an Irishman who owned a mill south of Waterloo, kept other subscription schools throughout Monroe County. After him, John Clark, an educated Scotsman and a minister, taught math and philosophy at New Design, and his school became very popular among settlers. Francis Clark, the next teacher, was an intemperate man, and his school proved to be unsuccessful.

Territorial Legislation passed in 1801 granted local school directors the power to raise money by taxation for support of their schools. At around that same time early settlers began moving from the protection of blockhouse fortress, and structures for the sole purpose of schooling began to be constructed in Monroe County.  Sank Bank School, a log cabin on the northwest corner of Claim 555, was one of those earliest schools. The early schools, like the homes, were built of logs, squared by a broad axe and laid horizontally on stone foundations. They had single rooms about fourteen feet wide and sixteen to twenty feet long with eighth foot ceilings. Greased paper called foolscap was used to cover a window or two, one foot square, cut into the walls for light. The floors were often dirt, and later split logs with the smooth side up.  Doors with wooden latches swung open on leather hinges and a pail of water with a gourd dipper was necessary equipment. The roofs were made of oak or walnut shingles. A doorway and a fireplace opening would be cut out of the walls and the first chimneys were a plain hole in the roof above the fireplace. Later a large fireplace of sticks, mud or clay mortar was plastered onto the wall to protect the logs from the fireplace blaze. These large fireplaces often ran the entire length of one wall. It is no wonder many of these earliest log schools were destroyed by fire. At first pupils sat on log stumps and then crude desks were made of wood boards placed upon pins that were driven into auger holes bored into the wall. Benches were split poles with legs inserted into holes bored into the round side. The desks, if there were any, were crude and uncomfortable. Many a student set on log benches and only the older children learning to write ever sat at desks. Student’s called their teacher “Schoolmaster” and if the teacher was fortunate they had a slanted desk with a flip top lid in the center that could be raised to store records. A long candlestick often served as teachers stool or a lectern.
After the log school was built the families would send water and wood for the fireplace with their children, or a farmer would hitch a log to his plow team and drag a dead tree to the school yard for the older boys to cut up for fire wood. Water also had to be carried to the school from a nearby spring, creek or from a neighbors well using a long pole between their shoulders and an oaken bucket.  The girl’s daily chore was to sweep the room clean with a wild grass broom. Wraps were hung on hooks on the walls near the fireplace. 
Governor Reynolds of the Illinois Territory reports in his History of Illinois, that rural school houses were guarded during school hours because of the many dangers children were exposed to going to and from school, including threats from wild animals and Indians. As many children had to journey through woods and fields a father would blaze a path to the school building, marking trees along the way. Large trees were felled across streams and forked stakes were driven into the ground on both sides of the stream and a long pole laid between them for a safety hand rail. As late as 1841 most Monroe County streams were without bridges and when swollen caused a dangerous safety risk to students and teachers walking to class. Land for these schools was usually a corner of a farmer’s field and the actual erection of the log cabin was done by the farmer and his neighbors. Farmers would offer $5 to help build the school building and others would offer free labor. 
Monroe County history tells of a Mrs. Ford who taught school in Section 3 of Township 30 in 1804. It was very rare for a woman to teach a subscription school at that time. In the vicinity of Chalfin Bridge, in Mitchie Precinct, Edward Humphrey taught school in 1805. He was a member of the Illinois Territory General Assembly and a skilled and highly regarded teacher.  In 1812 Madison County was formed form the northern part of St. Clair County making it the largest County in the world at that time. Charles Walker taught a subscription school in a log cabin located in what would become Columbia, on the Waterloo Road, in 1815.  1814 the Goshen Road ran between Shawneetown and Edwardsville and in 1816 Monroe County was formed. Levi Piggot, Captain James Piggott’s grandson, taught a subscription school in a log structure near spring that fed into Palmer Creek in a clearing in the woods northwest of Columbia as early as 1817. In 1818 Illinois became a State and the village of Columbia was surveyed by John Davis Whiteside  in 1820 on the Lewis Nolen farm. John Wilson, son of one of Columbia’s early settlers, William Wilson, attended a log subscription school located northwest of town on a corner of the John Divers farm in 1824. The farm was located on the original claim of Francis Ballew and the log school was on the site where Sand Bank School stands today.

The early schools were essentially private enterprises where a family agreed to pay a small subscription of money or other commodity of exchange per month for each child. The price per scholar ranged from thirty-three cents to one dollar twenty-five cents, depending upon the subjects taken. Besides the regular pupils there were day scholars who paid a nickel every day that they could attend. The teacher’s small salaries were supplemented by free room and board among the school patrons. 
In 1818 Illinois became the 21st State with a population of 50,000, but there was not a State Board of Education or chief school official to regulate what was being taught any of the schools. The Act that created the State of Illinois earmarked three percent of the proceeds from the sale of public lands for educational purposes. The first free school in Illinois opened in upper Alton in 1821. Support for education was not unanimous among the settlers and most citizens continued to regard education as a family and church matter and sent their children to private schools.  Few early settlers were willing to pay for an education for other people’s children, and as a result many children from poor families were denied any education outside of the home. 
In 1825 Senator Joseph Duncan of Jackson County introduced the Free School Law to the Legislature. It called for common schools in every county and said counties could levy taxes to support schools. Duncan’s law empowered local citizens to elect trustees, operate schools and tax to support them. The Free School Law limited counties to levy a mere twenty cents on one-hundred dollars for school purposes. Farmers were not burdened with taxes and could exchange commodities, deer and coonskins for tax receipts. Two percent of the State income tax was also earmarked for schools. The basis for State control was established and thirteen of the twenty-three States, including Illinois, adopted statutory provisions governing public education. The Free School Act of 1825 that called for tax supported schools was ahead of its time and there was public outcry against taxation to educate all children. In 1827, under protest from the poor people who the Law strove to help, it was amended making taxation voluntary.

The Office of School Commissioner was established in each county in 1829. As the population of Illinois grew more money was needed for schools. On September 5, 1832, Solomon Patterson was appointed commissioner to dispose of public school lands in Monroe County and in 1834 three school trustees were appointed for each township in the county and named the Township School Board. School lands were sold, the proceeds were loaned out, and the interest on the loans was used to maintain Monroe County’s schools. This influx of money was a new impetus for public school. Eagle Precinct, Township 1 South, Range 10 West, encompassed the small village of Columbia and many farms surrounding it. The Township School Board met semi-annually and reviewed records and reports for each school in the township. 
Monroe County records from 1836 show the County issued funds for school districts. In 1841 School Commissioner William Cowell was elected and under him more teachers were employed and education became systematized and the schools of Monroe County were raised to higher standards. School Commissioners were charged to sell public school lands in each county and ordered that people of every district to meet on the first Saturday in May to vote for or against taxation for school purposes. Three directors were elected for each school district. The three Township School Board Members were to handle all funds raised and administer the school districts through the three elected directors.
In 1848 Monroe County had 25 school districts and in 1955 Illinois had 4000 school districts. Most were private or subscription schools that met in homes, meeting houses, businesses, or in log schools. Abandoned corn cribs, stables, or cabins were sometimes used as schools and it was said that school held in an abandoned building was better than nothing at all. Many of the old log schools constructed in the early 1800’s were still in use.

In 1849 the Illinois Secretary of State was designated as the Superintendent of Public Instruction and a year later the Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction was established.
A law creating the Superintendent of Public Instruction was passed in 1854 and because a State election was not due until 1856, Ninian Edwards was appointed the first State Superintendent to serve until the general election. Under Edwards’s leadership, another free school law passed in 1855 and public schools began to develop in earnest. Opposition to a public tax for book learning was still bitterly opposed by the majority of Illinois citizens. Farmers in rural areas and citizens of small communities took the lead in the push for free education and began to build frame and brick one and two-room school buildings whenever a neighborhood could furnish fifteen or so students. In rural areas one-room schoolhouses were constructed anywhere a half-dozen or so families chose to build one so their children could walk to school. Parents who wanted their children educated subscribed with money for a teacher and a school building.  Property near a crossroad was usually chosen for the school building and was often donated or sold by a farmer. A reversion clause stated that if the school building was closed the donated land would revert back to the original owner. After the Civil War ended the citizens of the United States took a renewed interest in education and began to realize that in order for their children to have a happy and prosperous life they needed to be educated. Frame and brick schools building began to replace the log cabins and they were much larger with windows on both sides and a large door. At the door end of the one-room school was a place for the children to hang their wraps, a place for a water bucket, shelves for lunch pails and a bench to sit on while eating lunch on inclement days.
The 1855 legislation to provide a free public school system proved fateful because many of the people in Illinois had come from places where education had been a family matter and did not follow the Law. No adequate free public school system could be established under this legislation. The prejudices and objections of the people had to be overcome by the enactment of more imperative legislation demanding free public schools. 

As public money became available for schools after 1855 many of the log cabins were replaced by one-room schoolhouses, but many first generation log schools, like Sand Bank School, were still in use until after 1900. Second generation one-room schools were mostly wood frame construction with an iron pot belly stove for better heat. Larger widows made lighting better and mass produced maps and charts made lessons more memorable for pupils. Some of the early brick schoolhouses were being built beginning in the 1850’s and citizens were extremely proud of these sturdy structures. In the earliest periods of Free Public Education small communities began to build one and two-room frame school buildings anywhere a half-dozen or so neighbors chose to build one. Rural one-room schools were built near crossroads so transportation to and from school was easier. The schools were often only four miles apart, so students did not have to walk more than two miles to their school. In many cases citizens continued to regard education as a family and church matter and sent their children to private schools. Children from poorer families who could not afford to pay for their schooling were denied opportunities for learning. 

William Powell was the first elected State Superintendent in 1856 and the Legislature passed a new Act to establish and maintain free public schools in 1857. It also called for establishment of county school districts, election of county school commissioners, and township school officers. In 1883 the Compulsory Attendance Laws were enacted and all children between eight and fourteen were required to attend a public or private school for at least twelve weeks a year. Fines of between $5 and $20 could be levied against parents or guardians of truant children. High Schools became available to most children during this time a teacher certification laws were made more stringent. In 1886 the Common School Fund of one million dollars was established and in 1889 the age was lowered to seven and the school year extended to sixteen weeks. By 1892 over 800,000 students between 6 and 21 years of age were enrolled in city and rural schools in Illinois. The State had 11,083 elementary schools that held school for a minimum of seven months. 

County School Commissioners became County Superintendents in 1865 and in 1870 a new Illinois Constitution called for a thorough and efficient system of free schools whereby all children could receive a good common school education and provided for the establishment of local school boards. There were only a few high schools at this time and teachers were under qualified and poorly paid. One of the earliest high schools was found in Waterloo as early as 1870 and it became officially organized in 1879.

The General Education Act of 1872 called for establishing and maintaining Public Schools, on a still firmer basis and repealed all laws in conflict. The Act called for the Country School Superintendent to be elected every two years and to report directly to the State Superintendent on the progress of education in his county. Each township was divided into School Districts, and each district had two directors elected every two years. A tax not to exceed twenty cents on the one-hundred dollars could be assessed for the necessities of the school district. By 1876 there were well over a million people in Illinois and 700,000 attended some type of school. In Monroe County there were 3,030 pupils attending school.  By 1916 Monroe County had 59 rural and town school buildings, and nine parochial schools.
Sand Bank School
On January 4, 1813, the 400 acre Land Claim # 555 just north of Piggot’s Fort, owned by Piggot’d second wife, Francis Ballew, was certified in the Kaskaskia District of the State of Illinois. James Piggot’s grandson, Levi Piggot, taught a subscription school on the northeast corner of her claim as early as 1817. John Divers purchased half of Claim 555 in 1823.  That spring Jesse Walker kept a subscription school in the same log cabin. John Wilson, who lived on nearby Arthur Morgan farm, was one of the first students. The land was sold to the Waller family and then to a neighbor, Arthur Morgan. There is do documentation when the Township Board of School Trustees of T1SR10W purchased the 1/2 acre original school site, but Frank Hermann purchased a 22 acre farm around the original school site for $2500 in 1855.
In 1874 James McKee was teaching at Sand Bank School, and he left in 1876 to teach at the new Public School in Columbia. According to Monroe County records Nellie Weibel served as the first woman public school teacher in Monroe County at Sand Bank, Etter and Riverview schools prior to 1899. In 1899 Maggie Urmey was the teacher at Sand Bank. Julia Divers Wilson was Sand Bank’s teacher from 1900 until 1912. On July 15th, 1902, District #2 was renumbered as District # 55, with a district census of 44 children between 6 and 21 years of age. Lorenz Vogt, who had taught a Shoemaker School and the Columbia Public School, began teaching at Sand Bank in 1912 and taught there until 1924. 
On October 5, 1903, Frank Hermann sold a strip of land 220 X 33 feet north of the school property, for $10, to the Township School Board, whose members John Gummersheimer, Michael Geyer, and Anton Vogt. The Trustees in turn sold Hermann 1/6 of an acre, 110 X 66 feet, south of the school for $10. The Waterloo Republican, on May 11, 1904, reported “the old Sand Bank log schoolhouse was sold last Saturday at public sale and was bought by Mr. W. Phelps for $10. With its removal will pass one of the old landmarks of Monroe County.” Mr. Phelps, from the Dupo area purchased the historical log Sand Bank School for $10 and moved it to the site of his store at the corner of Route #3 and Davis Street Ferry Road. He was the only bidder.
The 1904 the Waterloo Republican reported that William The demolition was reported in The Waterloo Republican Times as a sad ending for a historic Monroe County landmark. A new Sand Bank School was built in 1904. That new Sand Bank School was a frame Cyprus clapboard school building that still exists today. The school had a coal shed and a swing set on the east side of the building and two outhouses at the rear of the half acre school property. The school originally had a belfry, but it was later removed as it was too costly to repair. 
The original Sand Bank School, built of hewn logs with cracks plastered with clay, was likely not painted at all. It was not until men began building houses, barns and schoolhouses of sawed boards, most commonly placed vertically and the joints covered with battens, that they began painting them to give color and protect wood from the ravages of time. Many old-timers, most long passed, remember from their grandfathers that little red schoolhouses were as common as red barns, at least wherever they were painted at all. The red schoolhouse era goes back to about Civil War time, or shortly after unpainted log buildings were phased out, and sawed weatherboard siding came into use. The new Sand Bank School of 1904 was first painted oxide red, and soon after it was painted with white lead paint.
In eastern Pennsylvania the red barn is still common, even on modern farms where board fences and homes, unless made of brick, are almost always painted white. In early days there was no scarcity of iron ore even in quite early days and relics of old iron furnaces are preserved in many places of Pennsylvania. When iron ore, or iron oxide, was ground fine it could be used as pigment generally called Venetian red. This was the inexpensive red coloring used in barn paint, and also used on many schools. One liquid into which iron oxide pigment was mixed was often buttermilk. Eventually the United States obtained its own lead supply, rather than importing it, and the price dropped accordingly so white lead oxide could be used for painting the Cape Cod cottages of New England and farmhouses and schools elsewhere. 

In later years schoolhouses came to be painted white, rather than red, was that people felt like schools should be painted like a house, as it didn't seem quite right to paint a school like a barn.
Sometime after 1915 front boy’s and girl’s cloakrooms were added on to Sand Bank School’s south facing front entrance, and in 1917 a wall of windows was added to the schoolhouse to comply with State regulations for better lighting. Sand Bank School was one of the most fully equipped Standard Schools in Monroe County. In the 1940’s a parking shed was built for teacher Edith Mehan’s car. The school got electricity in 1947 and the Christmas tree was lit for the first time. Miss Mehan also bought a new radio for the school.  
Students attending Sand Bank in the 30’s included Henry Carle, Albert Diehl, Harold Diehl, Delores Deihl (Dee Steepig), LeRoy Diehl,  Russell Hick, Wilbur Hick, Helen Carle, Bernice Muskopf, Louann Muskopf, Nadine Loewe, George Glaenzer, Edna Glaenzer Schmidt, Vernus Glaenzer, Walter Stemler, Harold Diehl, Sara Rehg, Clara Rehg, Clarence Rehg, Robert Rehg, Oliver  Huch, Eva Huch, Florence Brellinger, Hilda Brellinger, Clarence Brellinger, Antonette Corvey, Emma Hindrich, Russel Pieper, Lortetta Pieper,Elaine Trost Houch.
Students attending Sand Bank from 1946 until it closed were Rosalie Ramsey Fauerbach, Katherine Ramsey, Lewis Ramsey, Dorothy Ramsey, James Ramsey, Dean Ramsey, Clyde Ramsey, Bertha Ramsey, Janice Pieper Mathews, Larry Pieper, Robert Schlegel, Richard Schlegel, Karen Trost Harstein, Donna Hetherington. The school closed in 1952 with Miss Edith “Maude” Mehan teaching there for the final twenty-eight years, 1924-1952. 
A 1901 circular, Standards for School Design and Construction, called for the ideal school to be 775 square feet with 13 feet high ceilings.  In 1906 the Lindsey Bill granted free tuition to teacher education students and this alleviated the shortage of qualified teachers. In February of 1906 Monroe County schools stopped providing free pencils to the pupils for fear that disease could be spread more easily. Children had to bring all needed school supplies from home.

The Illinois Public Education Commission was established in 1907 and the State pressed for standardization of schools during the Progressive Era, A number of influential educators started a movement to improve rural schools in order to addressed problems of sanitation and proper light and heating.  The additions of cloakrooms, blackboards, potable water, and outhouses that were kept clean were recommendations. Two years later the State required that all schools be brought up to even higher standards with separate boys and girls cloak rooms, two good pictures, a globe, and a teacher with a high school diploma who could teach the States prescribed curriculum. Insulation board and wainscoting were added to the bare plaster lathe walls and more modern coal and oil heaters replaced the old pot-bellied stoves. The one-roomers were extensively modernized from 1907-1912 and many public schools in Illinois displayed metal plates over their doors declaring whether the school was a Standard or a Superior School. The plates designated whether the school met or exceeded the State’s standards. Those schools that met the standards usually had a big celebration for the parents and students of the district. 
By 1911 the number of students in Monroe County’s 59 public and rural elementary schools had dropped to 2,537 pupils. That was the first year for Columbia High School with one student and there were 87 total high school students in Monroe County. The private schools in the County had 505 students attending. The 1916 Centennial Atlas of Monroe County stated that there were fifty-seven school districts in the County with seventy-five teachers. There were fifty un-graded and seven graded modernized and thoroughly equipped school buildings. The County had two High Schools, one in Waterloo and one in Columbia. There were also seven Lutheran, Evangelical and Catholic schools in Monroe County. The year 1916 saw 57 public school districts in Monroe County along with seven parochial schools.
Slate tablets were still being regularly used in public schools 1915 and continued until much later. It was around that time that the nickel paper tablet could be purchased in local stores and came into use. Slates had the advantage to being easily washed over and over.

In October, 1919, of that year county schools were closed and all picnics and social gatherings canceled by the County Health department because Influenza was spreading throughout Illinois. Before it passed 22,566 Illinoisans had died of the air born disease. In February 1918 the school children in county schools were selling thrift bonds and war savings bonds. In November of 1918 World War I officially ended.

Further standardization of schools came in the early 1920’s. Increased floor space, increased air space, proper lighting, jacketed furnaces, cold air returns, and pure water supplies became mandatory. A row of windows were placed on one side of the schools, normally the north or the east, replacing the standard two or three on a side. These windows were much taller than those they replaced. Each school had a ten gallon porcelain water tank where the children’s drinking water was stored. The tanks had a spigot and fountain. After 1940 electric lights began to be installed in schools but they were used sparingly on dark days. Prior to this small coal oil lamps were often hung on one wall of the schoolroom to provide a little light and to light the school for night meetings. Indulgent parents would bring their own coal oil lamp to night meetings or special programs such as Christmas Plays to provide more light. 
WOMEN TEACHERS- Cahtharine Beecher
An advocate of bring women into the teaching profession was Catharine Beecher. She promoted female teachers as a civilizing force in the West… “God designed women to be the chief educators of our race… It is woman who is [sic] fitted by disposition and habits and circumstances for such duties.” Beecher founded colleges to educate women in philosophy, science, and mathematics and train them for service out west… Determined and educated, an army of young women teachers headed west. Nothing could have prepared them for the conditions they found upon arrival in their lonely outposts. One young lady witnessed a gunfight outside her classroom. Another found herself boarding in a two-room cabin with a family of ten.

Kathryn Kish Sklar describes how women changed what went on in the classroom:  “The hiring of women created a new ethic in schools that was feminized in which the teacher cared for the students-the teacher was not only a disciplinarian but also offered, not exactly the comforts of home, but a lot of the similar ingredients that had gone on in home schooling a century before that.” The old time schoolhouse has the peculiar ability to provoke childhood memories. One recollection that many students of yesterday seem to recall are the words of wisdom printed on the blackboard behind the teacher’s desk evoke the spirit of these early schools- “What you are to be you are now becoming,” and of course, the Golden Rule “Do unto others as you would have them do unto you.”
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